
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

29 October 2021 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee on 
Monday, 8th November, 2021 at 6.30 pm 

in the Conference Centre, Jakemans Community Stadium (Boston United), Pilgrim Way, 
Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7NE 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Peter Watson 
Vice Chairman: Councillor George Cornah 
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Richard Austin BEM, David Brown, 

Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Martin Howard, 
Frank Pickett, Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held on 20th September 2021. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Wednesday, 3rd November 2021. 
 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   UPDATE ON AUDIT OF STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21  
 

 A verbal update by Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate)  
 

2   TREASURY MANAGEMENT - 2021/22 MID-YEAR UPDATE (Pages 9 - 28) 
 

 A report by Jacqueline Mundy, Interim Treasury and Investment Manager 
 

3   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22 (Pages 29 - 42) 
 

 A report by Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 
 

4   WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 43 - 44) 
 

 To consider the Committee’s work programme for 2021/22. 
 

 
 

 
Notes: 
 

The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, 
Senior Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, 01205 314227     
email: janette.collier@boston.gov.uk  
 

Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify 01205 314227    
email: janette.collier@boston.gov.uk as soon as possible. 
 

Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 

 



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

20 September 2021 

Present: Councillor Peter Watson (Chairman), Councillor George Cornah (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Richard Austin BEM, David Brown, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, 
Frank Pickett, Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Officers –  
Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Assistant Director - Regulation, Insights & 
Transformation Manager, Chief Finance Officer, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
(Corporate), Matthew Waller, Interim Internal Principal Auditor for BBC and Senior 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
1   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the last meeting, held on 24th May 2021, were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman. 
 
2   APOLOGIES 

 
There were apologies for absence from Councillors Tom Ashton and Katie Chalmers. 
 
3   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
5   INVESTIGATORY POWERS COMMISSIONER'S OFFICE (IPCO) 

INSPECTION IN RELATION TO THE USE OF THE REGULATION OF 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA - THE ACT) 
 

The Assistant Director - Regulation presented a report, which provided a summary of 
the key findings from the inspection of the Council by the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) on 23rd March 2021.  IPCO undertook an inspection of 
the Council’s policies, procedures and records in respect of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and how the Council had discharged its duties 
under the Act.  
 
The Act governed public authorities’ use of directed covert surveillance and use of 
“covert human intelligence sources” (CHIS) and it was a requirement of Home Office 
Covert Surveillance and Property Interference Code of Practice (August 2018) that the 
extent of the Councils RIPA activity was reported to Members at least annually.  The 
Council had not authorised any RIPA applications in the last 12 months. 
 
The Inspection was conducted virtually at the request of IPCO.   The Inspector was 
made aware of the Council’s strategic alliance with East Lindsey District Council and of 
its intention to review the current RIPA policy and prepare a single ‘joint alliance’ RIPA 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



Audit & Governance Committee 
20 September 2021 
 

policy document.  The aim was to maximise the training and experience that officers had 
across both authorities and provide a single point of policy reference when any 
regulated activity was undertaken. One of the key findings was a recommendation from 
refresher training for all key officers; although rarely used, officers needed to be trained 
in case these powers had to be exercised. 
 
Information provided by the Council to the Inspector demonstrated a level of 
compliance, which satisfied the Inspector and removed the Council from the obligation 
to host a physical inspection of records.   
 
In response to Members’ questions, the Assistant Director confirmed that Boston 
already managed the CCTV system for South Holland District Council and he was not 
aware of any legislation modifications that would improve the Council’s discharge of 
duties under the Act. The Council used overt surveillance, not covert, and that included 
surveillance to monitor fly-tipping hotspots with signage clearly displayed that CCTV was 
in operation, and these current arrangements were successful in identifying 
perpetrators.  Overt surveillance was a tool that the Council could consider using, but it 
was not been deemed necessary and application would have to be made to a 
magistrate with evidence that it was a proportionate measure.   
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
6   QUARTER 1 2021/22 RISK REPORT 

 
The Insights & Transformation Manager presented a report, which provided an update 
on risk management as at the end of Quarter 1 of 2021/2022 (June 2021) to provide 
assurance to the Committee that corporate governance arrangements were in place and 
functioning effectively. 
 
As previously reported, work was ongoing towards a single risk management approach 
across the Strategic Alliance, with the potential to extend this across the new South East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership in future.  The report set out a staged approach to 
achieve this.  The content of the risk registers would be local to Boston in the first 
instance, particularly the strategic risk register, as this was based on Boston’s corporate 
priorities. 
 
Although the Committee was not the decision making body for risk management, by 
receiving the reports prior to Cabinet, Members would be able to comment on the 
approach taken and provide assurance to Cabinet on the process followed. 
 
All Members were invited to a risk workshop to allow them to input into the identification 
of the strategic risks that could prevent the achievement of Boston’s corporate priorities. 
This would then be pulled together into a draft strategic risk register to be formally 
reported through the Committee and Cabinet. 
 
Members agreed that the strategic risk workshop be held prior to the Committee’s next 
meeting on 8th November. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Audit & Governance Committee 
20 September 2021 

 

7   UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2020/21 
 

The Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) presented the unaudited Financial 
Statements 2020/21, including the Annual Governance Statement, attached to the report 
at Appendix A, for the Committee’s consideration in accordance with the Council’s good 
practice.   
 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 required that the Responsible Finance Officer 
(Section 151 Officer) signed the unaudited Financial Statements no later than 31 May 
each year and that the Financial Statements be considered and approved by a 
committee of the Council no later than 31 July each year.   
 
However, due to the Coronavirus Pandemic, the regulations had been amended for 
2020/21.  The Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) Amendments Regulation 2020 (SI 
2021/263) required that the Section 151 Officer signed the unaudited Financial 
Statements no later than 1 August 2021 and that they be considered and approved, 
including the Annual Governance Statement, by a committee of the Council no later than 
30 September 2021.  The Section 151 Officer had formally approved the unaudited 
Financial Statements for publication in line with the statutory deadline of 1 August 2021. 
 
The Financial Statements 2020/21 production was complete and had been prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice and the Council’s accounting policies.  The 
unaudited version of shown at Appendix A included the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement, and Balance Sheet as at 31 
March 2021, along with the Annual Governance Statement.  
 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer went through the narrative and key points of the 
statements in some detail. 
 
The net worth of the Council, as shown in the Balance Sheet, had decreased by 
£8.461m and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement reflected this.  
The main reasons were set out in paragraph 1.7 of the report.   
 
The major changes in the Balance Sheet at the year-end, considered significant enough 
to warrant specific reference, were: 

 

 An increase of £9.0m in Short-term Creditors, mainly due to Covid grants received 
in 2020/21 but not yet paid out to businesses, therefore ‘owed’ to Central 
Government at the year end, and also due to Section 31 Grant relating to Business 
Rates, where Central Government and Lincolnshire County Council’s shares were 
also paid to Boston Borough Council to assist with cash flow in year, and is 
therefore due to be paid back at year end.  
 

 An increase of £8.5m in Short-term Debtors, mainly due to the accounting entries 
associated with the resulting deficits on the Council Tax and Business Rates 
Collection Fund at 31 March 2021. The debtor balances were the net positions 
attributable from Lincolnshire County Council, Lincolnshire Police Authority and 
Central Government on the Collection Fund. 

 

Page 3



Audit & Governance Committee 
20 September 2021 
 

 The Actuary’s assessment of the Council’s net Pension Liability increased by 
£9.4m, as a result of changes in demographic and financial assumptions. 

 
It was noted that updated pensions reports had been requested following notification 
from Lincolnshire County Council regarding some updated asset valuations.  
 
The audit by Mazars LLP commenced on 16 August 2021 and was in progress, though 
work was taking longer because it was being carried out remotely.  Officers met weekly 
with Mazars and were working to respond to queries and provide information as 
requests were received.  It was expected that there might be changes to the financial 
statements and these would be highlighted when the audited statements were 
presented to the Committee.  It was intended to present the Financial Statements to the 
Committee for approval on 8th November. 
 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer then clarified some issues in response to questions 
raised.  The difference of £22m in “Other service expenses” compared to the previous 
year, as shown in Section 14 of the statements, was due to accounting for some of the 
Covid-19 grants that the Council had issued.  An update had been requested regarding 
the withheld repayments of the Council’s fixed term loan, which would be reported back 
to Members.  
 
Members accepted an offer from the Deputy Chief Finance Officer to hold a briefing to 
go through the financial statements in more detail to aid understanding. 
 

Action: ES 
1. Advise Members of the current situation with respect to the Council’s fixed-term loan, 

including clarification as to whether the withheld repayments were being capitalised. 
2. Advise Councillor Dani regarding expenditure on consultation. 
3. Arrange a briefing for Members on the financial statements via Zoom prior to the 

Committee’s consideration of the audited financial statements. 

 
Members went on to discuss the poor sound quality of the venue, particularly with 
respect to virtual attendees, who were asked to attend in person in future if possible.  In 
order to accommodate this, it was suggested that the next meeting be held at Boston 
United’s conference centre. 
 

Action: JC 
Arrange the Committee’s next meeting to be held at the BUFC Conference Centre 

 
8   TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRATEGY UPDATE - 

QUARTER 1 2021/22 
 

The Chief Finance Officer presented a report, which set out the Treasury Management 
and relevant capital strategy activities of the Council for the period 1 April to 30 June 
2021. 
 
In terms of investment returns, the Council was expecting to achieve a total of £914,000 
for 2021/22, comprising £893,000 gross distribution income from property fund holdings 
(i.e. before deduction of management fees) and £21,000 from cash investments. This 
compared to the total gross annual budget of £1,016,000 

Page 4



Audit & Governance Committee 
20 September 2021 

 

 
The Council was generally keeping cash investments short term up to a maximum of 
twelve months. As the financial climate changed, who the Council invested with and the 
amount invested, was under constant scrutiny, taking into account risk at any particular 
moment in time. 
 
During debate, there was a view that the rate of return from the property fund 
investments was satisfactory, but there was another view that it was worrying, as it did 
not cover the investment made initially.  The Portfolio Holder explained in detail how 
these long-term investments were performing satisfactorily and the Section 151 Officer 
pointed out that the report only indicated a point in time.  
 

Action: SH/JM 
Include graphs in future reports to show the direction of travel of the rate of return from 
the Council’s property fund investments. 

 
Members discussed concerns regarding inflation and the impact of the significant rise in 
the cost of gas and labour shortages etc.  The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that the 
Council’s financial advisors, Link Asset Services, had provided their view on interest 
rates shortly after the end of the relevant period (June 2021), as the Council received 
updates on a quarterly basis.  The Monetary Policy Committee appeared to expect 
that inflationary indicators would increase over the next 12 months once the impact 
of the recovery took hold, but would then subside.  However, this report predated 
the emerging energy crisis and future reports would reflect this.  
 
The report was then noted. 
 
9   INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 2021/22 

 
The Internal Audit Team Manager presented the Internal Audit Charter for 2021/22.   
 
The Charter formally defined Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and responsibility, 
setting out Internal Audit’s position within the Council and defining the scope of Internal 
Audit activities, setting out the way the service worked and what the Committee could 
expect from the service. 
 
The Charter lay behind all the work that Internal Audit carried out for the Council and 
gave assurance that it was in line with professional internal audit standards in the same 
way as the service previously provided to the Council by the City of Lincoln.  Annual 
reports and opinions, and regular progress reports would continue to be issued. 
 
Members welcomed the new Internal Audit service and looked forward to working with 
its officers in the future. 
 
10   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
The Internal Audit Team Manager presented the Internal Audit Progress Report as at 
September 2021. 
 

Page 5



Audit & Governance Committee 
20 September 2021 
 

Since the last Progress report in May 2021, work had commenced on the 2021/22 Audit 
Plan and seven audits were in progress. All audits within the 2020/21 audit plan had 
now been completed. 
 
In this period one assurance review had been completed, Governance, Risk 
Management & Counter Fraud (20/21), which had achieved Substantial assurance.   
 
The following audits were in progress: 
• Brexit 
• Towns Fund 
• Income 
• Housing Benefit Subsidy 
• Boston Town Area Committee 
• Carbon Reduction 
• Flood Management 
 
The Committee’s attention was brought to the section of the report that set out 
details of some of the recent public interest reports, including Liverpool City Council 
and a Grant Thornton report, which pulled together a number of public interest 
reports and listed the lessons learned from them.  These were useful documents for 
the Committee to consider, as they showed the common themes and issues that 
authorities currently struggled with and a key finding was the importance of culture 
and ethics. 
 
The report was noted. 
 
11   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
It was noted that the report on Accounting Policies would be an agenda item for the 
Committee’s meeting on 28th March 2022. 
 
A Member asked if the Member Code of Conduct would be brought to the Committee in 
the near future.  Also, whether the three authorities of the new South & East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership would adopt the same version and if it would be similar to that of 
the County Council.  
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that, since his recent appointment, his focus had to be 
on the legalities behind the new partnership, but the Code of Conduct was a priority.  It 
was expected that the three authorities would adopt the model Code of Conduct 
produced by the Local Government Association and, therefore, it would be very similar 
to the County Council’s Code of Conduct.   
 
Members requested regular briefings with fund managers and stressed the importance 
of all Members receiving updates throughout the year.   
 
The Section 151 Officer confirmed that a programme of activity for the Committee was 
being drawn up, some of which would be opened to all Members, and reminded 
Members of the financial training sessions already arranged to take place in the next 
couple of weeks.   
 

Page 6



Audit & Governance Committee 
20 September 2021 

 

Action: CM 
Give consideration to drafting a briefing note covering the details of the Council’s 
property fund investments and the fixed term loan and include both in future training 
sessions. 

 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.20 pm 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 8 NOVEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: MID-YEAR TREASURY REPORT 2021/22 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: JACQUELINE MUNDY, INTERIM TREASURY & INVESTMENT 

MANAGER  

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

Attached at Appendix A is the Mid-Year Report on the Council’s “Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy.” It covers the following areas; 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 

 The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators) 

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22 
 
Appendix B is an economic update for the first six months of the 2021/22 financial year. The 

report includes the outlook for the remainder of the financial year along with interest rate 

forecasts. The information is provided by Link Asset Services who are Boston Borough Council’s 

external advisors. 

This report refers to a key element of the Council’s Governance Framework and therefore 

represents an important contribution to the evidence trail in support of the Annual 

Governance Statement 2021/22. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Audit and Governance Committee receive and review the contents of this report. 

 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To effectively manage Treasury risk and protect Council capital. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

There are no alternative recommendations. 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This report provides the 2021/22 mid-year update on the Council’s “Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy”. 

 
1.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued the revised Code 

of Practice for Treasury Management in 2017. 

1.3 The Code suggests that members should be informed of Treasury Management activities at 
least twice a year. This report therefore ensures this Council is embracing best practice in 
accordance with CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice. 

 
2.  Background 

 
2.1 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year 

will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operations ensure this 
cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising 
investment return. 

   
2.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 

Council’s capital programme. The capital programme provides a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can 
meet its capital spending requirements. This management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on 
occasion, any existing debt may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 
   

2.3 Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 
 

 “The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.”  
  

2.4 The risks around investments have always been managed effectively by the Council. 
 

2.5 The continuing very low levels of interest rates, along with continued uncertainty in the 
financial markets, means the returns from investments are currently below historic levels. 

  

Page 10



 
2.6 During 2018/19 the Council completed its purchase of property fund units and borrowed 

£15.449m from the PWLB at an average rate of 2.48% in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy approved by Council in April 2018. 

 
2.7 The purchase of property fund units has significantly increased investment returns to the 

Council. 
 

3 Financial Update – half year to 30 September 2021 
 

3.1 At 30 September 2021, the Council held £24.105m in cash investments (£17.690m at 31 

March) and £20.711m in property funds (£19.492m at 31 March).  

 
3.2 The Council budgeted to receive £1,016,000 in gross investment income in 2021/22 

comprising £977,000 from Property Funds (including £215,000 management fees) and 

£39,000 from cash investments. 

 
3.3 As at 30 September 2021, total investment income for the year is estimated to be £946,000 

comprising £924,000 from Property Funds and £22,000 from cash investments. Property 

Fund Management fees for 2021/22 are currently estimated at £215,000.  

 
3.4 In 2021/22, cumulatively to 30 September 2021, the Council achieved an average gross 

revenue return (before deduction of management charges) of 4.46% from the Property 

Fund holdings, and 3.42% net (after the deduction of those charges).  

 

3.5 Treasury (cash) Investments achieved an average rate of 0.9% compared to the benchmark 

average 3-month LIBID rate of -0.054%.  

 
3.6 Borrowing at 30 September 2021 is £16.449m of which £15.449m is from the PWLB. Total 

borrowing costs for 2021/22 are projected to be £494,000.  

 

4 CONCLUSION 

4.1 Treasury Management continues to require close attention given the current financial 

climate. Officers will continue to be vigilant and report any significant issues to this 

Committee. 

 

Review Date: 

Regular reporting is undertaken in the quarterly Governance Reports, and Annual Treasury 

Management Reports are produced each year. Any significant treasury issues arising will be 

reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

    
 

Page 11



 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The entire report. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The General Power of Competence (GPOC) in the Localism Act 2011 allows Councils a broad 

freedom in their operations.  

Councils have the general power to borrow under Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

The power to invest is set out in the Local Government Act 2003, Section 12, which gives the 

Council the power to invest for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, or 

for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs.  

The power that allows councils to spend for capital purposes is included in the Local 

Government Act 2003.  

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS  
 
Risk Management 
The Code of Practice sets out the framework for controlling the risks associated with treasury 
management decisions for borrowing and investing.  Ultimately investment and borrowing 
decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. The 
overriding priority is that the security of a deposit takes precedence over a return on investment. 
 
The Prudential and Treasury Indicators control the limits for investing and borrowing, to ensure 
that any borrowing is affordable and sustainable and long term borrowing is for capital purposes 
only. 
 
Impact on Performance 
There is a requirement to try and balance the risks and rewards from investing our available cash 
resources, as outlined within the Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22. 
 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

  

Page 12



EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None. 

 

CONSULTATION 

No consultation undertaken.   

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Mid-Year Review Report 2021/22 

APPENDIX B Economic update from Link Asset Services 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document 

title 

Where the document can be viewed 

Treasury 

Management 

Strategy 

Statement for 

2021/22 

As part of the MTFS reported to Full Council on 1st March 2021.  

https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/b5223/Council%20Report%20-

%202021-

22%20Budget%20Report%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20and%20C

ouncil%20Tax%2001st-Mar-202.pdf?T=9 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.   

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Jacqueline Mundy, Interim Treasury & Investment Manager, 

Jacqueline.Mundy@pspsl.co.uk  

Signed off by: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development 

& Section 151 Officer Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk  

Approved for 

publication: 

- 

 

Page 13

https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/b5223/Council%20Report%20-%202021-22%20Budget%20Report%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20and%20Council%20Tax%2001st-Mar-202.pdf?T=9
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/b5223/Council%20Report%20-%202021-22%20Budget%20Report%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20and%20Council%20Tax%2001st-Mar-202.pdf?T=9
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/b5223/Council%20Report%20-%202021-22%20Budget%20Report%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20and%20Council%20Tax%2001st-Mar-202.pdf?T=9
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/b5223/Council%20Report%20-%202021-22%20Budget%20Report%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Strategy%20and%20Council%20Tax%2001st-Mar-202.pdf?T=9
mailto:Jacqueline.Mundy@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 
Boston Borough Council 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and  
Annual Investment Strategy 

 
Mid-Year Review Report 2021/22 

 
1. Background 
 

1.1 Capital Strategy 
 
In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA), 
issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. From 2019/20, all local 
authorities have been required to prepare a Capital Strategy, providing the following:-  
 

 A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services;  

 An overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 
 The implications for future financial sustainability. 

 

1.2 Treasury Management 
 
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year 
will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operations ensure this cash 
flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its capital 
spending operations.  This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or 
short-term loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion, any existing debt 
previously be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  
 
Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 

 

 
2. Introduction 
 
This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management 
(revised 2017). The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:  
 

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement, which sets 
out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities. 

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner by which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives. 

Page 15



APPENDIX A 

 
 

3. Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement - 
including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy - for 
the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual Report, (stewardship 
report), covering activities during the previous year. 

4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring treasury 
management policies and practices and for the execution and administration of 
treasury management decisions. 

5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy and 
policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the delegated body is the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

 
This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management, and covers the following: 
 

 An economic update for the first part of the 2021/22 financial year; 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy; 

 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and prudential 
indicators; 

 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22; 

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22; 

 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2021/22; and 

 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2021/22. 

 
 

3. Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy Update 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/2 was approved by Council 
on 1 March 2021, as part of the Capital Strategy. 
 
There are no in-year policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position 
in light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already approved.   

 
 

4. The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators) 
 
This part of the report is structured to update: 

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

 How these plans are being financed; 

 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential indicators  
and the underlying need to borrow; and 

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

 
4.1 Prudential Indicators for Capital Expenditure 
 
This table shows the original capital expenditure estimate, actual expenditure to 30 September 
and the revised estimate, representing the latest approved programme (at Q2, being 
presented to Cabinet in November 2021).  
  

Page 16



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

 
Capital Expenditure by Head 
of Service 

2021/22 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

Position at 
30/09/21 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Regulatory Services             346                140            1,015 

Place              1,237                18            1,502 

Corporate Services                831                639               834 

Economic Growth/Towns Fund 0 186 400 

Operations             44                3            259 

Total Capital Expenditure 2,458               986 4010 

 

 
4.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme 
 
The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital 
programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital expenditure.  The 
borrowing element of the table (nil for 2019/20) increases the underlying indebtedness of the 
Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced in 
part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision).   
 

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing 

2021/22 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

Position at 
30/09/21 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Total Capital Expenditure 2,458 986 4,010 

    

Financed by:    

Capital Grants and Contributions 1,370 326 2,670 

Revenue Resources             1,088 660            1,340 

Total Financing 2,458 986 4,010 

    

Borrowing Need - - - 

 

 
4.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary 
 
This table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing for a 
capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position over the period, which is termed the 
Operational Boundary. 
 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 
 
We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing Requirement.  
 

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt  
  

Page 17



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

 

 2021/22 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

Position at 
30/09/21 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement  

CFR – Non Housing 20,369 20,304 20,304 

    

Net movement  in CFR - -65 -65 

    

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt 

Borrowing  22,000 22,000 22,000 

Other long term liabilities - - - 

Total Debt at 30 September 22,000 22,000 22,000 

 
4.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 
The first key control over treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the 
medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  
Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2020/21 and next two financial 
years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.  The Council 
has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves 
prudent.   
 

 2021/22 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

Position at 
30/09/21 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Gross Borrowing 16,449 16,449 16,449 

Total Debt 16,449 16,449 16,449 

    

CFR (year-end position)  20,369 20,304 20,304 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development reports that no difficulties are 
envisaged for the current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.   
 
A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the Authorised 
Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and 
revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be 
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum 
borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit 
determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.  
 

 2021/22 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

Position at 
30/09/21 

 
£’000 

2021/22 
Revised 
Estimate 

£’000 

Borrowing 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Other long term liabilities - - - 

Total  25,000 25,000 25,000 

 
  

Page 18



APPENDIX A 

 
 

5. Investment Portfolio 
 
In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and 
liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s risk 
appetite.  It is a very difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest rates 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the current 0.10% 
Bank Rate.  The continuing risks of Covid disruption to the economy, prompts a low risk and 
short-term strategy.  Given this risk environment and the fact that increases in Bank Rate are 
likely to be gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous decades, investment 
returns are forecast to remain low.  
 
The Council budgeted to receive £1,016,000 in gross investment income in 2021/22 
comprising £977,000 from Property Funds (including £215,000 of management fees), and 
£39,000 from cash investments. 
 
At 30 September 2021, total investment income for the year is estimated to be £946,000 
comprising £924,000 from Property Funds and £22,000 from cash investments. Property Fund 
Management fees for 2021/22 are estimated at £215,000.  
 
In 2021/22, cumulatively to 30 September 2021, the Council achieved an average gross 
revenue return (before deduction of management charges) of 4.46% from the Property Fund 
purchases (3.42% after fees).  
 
Treasury (cash) Investments achieved an average rate of 0.09% compared to the benchmark 
average 3-month LIBID rate of -0.054%.  
 
The table below details the cash investments held by the Council at 30 September 2021. 
Investments are made in line with both Link’s creditworthiness guidance and the duration limits 
applied to each colour banding.   
 
 

Financial 
Institution 

Amount  
£’000 

Duration Rate 
Most recent Link Asset 
Services Colour Rating 

HSBC 10,105 Call 0.01% Orange (12 months) 

CCLA 3,000 Call 0.022% Yellow 5 Years 

Santander 3,000 95 day notice 0.40% Red – 6 months 

Barclays Bank 3,000 95 day notice 0.15% Red – 6 months 

Lloyds Bank 2,000 95 day notice 0.05% Red – 6 months 

Bank of 
Scotland 

2,000 175 day 
notice 

0.06% Red – 6 months 

Total 24,105    

 
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy states investments are limited with any one 
institution to no more than £3m invested per institution, and £5m per counterparty ‘group’. The 
28 working days residual balances in excess of the £5m limit were deposited in the Council’s 
current bank account (HSBC) for cash flow reasons (in accordance with para 7.3 of the 
Treasury Management Strategy). 

Page 19



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 
The average level of funds available for investment from 1 April to 30 September 2021 was 
£21.683. Of this, an average of £10.683m was available on a temporary basis, the level 
dependent on the timing of precept and business rate pool payments, receipt of grants and 
capital programme spend.  
 

Capital Strategy and Property Fund Valuation 
 
Detailed below are the property fund investments held by the Council, the valuation date for 
all funds being 30 September 2021. 
 

Financial Institution Purchase 
Cost 

 
 
 

£’000 

Net Asset 
Value at 
31 March  

2021 
 

£’000 

Net Asset 
Value at 
30 Sept 

2021 
 

£’000 

In-year 
Gain 

/(Loss) 
to 30 Sept 

2021 
£’000 

Black Rock UK Property Fund   4,500   4,403   4,628 225 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund   4,250   4,255   4,450 195 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust   4,239   3,830   4,094 264 

M&G UK Property Fund   4,000   3,478   3,716 238 

AEW   4,000   3,526   3,824 298 

Total 20,989 19,492 20,712 1,220 

 
The difference between purchase price (i.e. the amount invested) and  fair value reflects 
premiums paid or discount received against the Funds’ ‘Net Asset Value’ at the settlement 
date together with the movement in fund valuations since acquisition. Fair values have 
increased during the first half of the financial year, by 5.89% since 31 March 2021. The 
increase has been largely due to the vaccination process that has helped to combat 
Coronavirus and the economy rebounding as a result of restrictions lifting.  
 

 
6. Borrowing 
 
The Council’s projected capital financing requirement (CFR) at 31 March 2021 is £20.304m.  
The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  As the CFR 
is positive, the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external borrowing) or from 
internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing).  The balance of external and 
internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions.   
 
At the start of the 2021/22 financial year the Council’s total long-term external borrowing was 
£16.449m, and it has utilised £3.855m of cash reserves in lieu of borrowing due to the current 
low rate of return on cash investments. Borrowing costs for 2021/22 are projected to be 
£494,000. 
 
No additional borrowing was undertaken during the half year ended 30 September 2021, and 
officers continue to monitor opportunities to replace the internally invested sums with long-
term borrowing. 
 

 
7. Debt Rescheduling 
 
The Council has £16.449m of long-term external borrowing. No debt rescheduling has been 
undertaken to date in the current financial year.  

Page 20



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

8. Other 
 

8.1 Changes in Risk Appetite 
 
The 2018 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance on risk 
management.  Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g. for moving surplus cash into 
or out of certain types of investment funds or other types of investment instruments, this 
change in risk appetite and policy should be brought to members’ attention in treasury 
management update reports. 

 
There has been no change in risk appetite since the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2021/22 was approved on 1 March 2021. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



  APPENDIX B 
 
Economics and Interest Rates (from Link Asset Services as at 06/10/21) 
 
ECONOMICS UPDATE 
 

MPC meeting 24.9.21 

The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to leave Bank Rate unchanged at 
0.10% and made no changes to its programme of quantitative easing purchases due to finish 
by the end of this year at a total of £895bn; two MPC members voted to stop the last £35bn of 
purchases as they were concerned that this would add to inflationary pressures. 

There was a major shift in the tone of the MPC’s minutes at this meeting from the previous 
meeting in August which had majored on indicating that some tightening in monetary policy 
was now on the horizon, but also not wanting to stifle economic recovery by too early an 
increase in Bank Rate. In his press conference after the August MPC meeting, Governor 
Andrew Bailey said, “the challenge of avoiding a steep rise in unemployment has been 
replaced by that of ensuring a flow of labour into jobs” and that “the Committee will be 
monitoring closely the incoming evidence regarding developments in the labour market, and 
particularly unemployment, wider measures of slack, and underlying wage pressures.” In other 
words, it was flagging up a potential danger that labour shortages could push up wage growth 
by more than it expects and that, as a result, CPI inflation would stay above the 2% target for 
longer. It also discounted sharp increases in monthly inflation figures in the pipeline in late 
2021 which were largely propelled by events a year ago e.g., the cut in VAT in August 2020 for 
the hospitality industry, and by temporary shortages which would eventually work their way out 
of the system: in other words, the MPC had been prepared to look through a temporary 
spike in inflation. 

So, in August the country was just put on alert.  However, this time the MPC’s words indicated 
there had been a marked increase in concern that more recent increases in prices, particularly 
the increases in gas and electricity prices in October and due again next April, are, indeed, 
likely to lead to faster and higher inflation expectations and underlying wage growth, 
which would in turn increase the risk that price pressures would prove more persistent 
next year than previously expected. Indeed, to emphasise its concern about inflationary 
pressures, the MPC pointedly chose to reaffirm its commitment to the 2% inflation target 
in its statement; this suggested that it was now willing to look through the flagging economic 
recovery during the summer to prioritise bringing inflation down next year. This is a reversal of 
its priorities in August and a long way from words at earlier MPC meetings which indicated a 
willingness to look through inflation overshooting the target for limited periods to ensure that 
inflation was ‘sustainably over 2%’. Indeed, whereas in August the MPC’s focus was on getting 
through a winter of temporarily high energy prices and supply shortages, believing that inflation 
would return to just under the 2% target after reaching a high around 4% in late 2021, now its 
primary concern is that underlying price pressures in the economy are likely to get embedded 
over the next year and elevate future inflation to stay significantly above its 2% target and for 
longer. 

Financial markets are now pricing in a first increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in 
February 2022, but this looks ambitious as the MPC has stated that it wants to see what 
happens to the economy, and particularly to employment once furlough ends at the end of 
September. At the MPC’s meeting in February it will only have available the employment 
figures for November: to get a clearer picture of employment trends, it would need to wait until 
the May meeting when it would have data up until February. At its May meeting, it will also 
have a clearer understanding of the likely peak of inflation. 

 

The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate versus 
selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: - 

Page 23



  APPENDIX B   
 

1. Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most 
circumstances”. 

2. Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings. 

3. Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts. 

4. Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings. 

 

COVID-19 vaccines. These have been the game changer which have enormously boosted 
confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal during the summer after a 
third wave of the virus threatened to overwhelm hospitals in the spring. With the household 
saving rate having been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March 2020, there is 
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for services in hard hit sectors like 
restaurants, travel and hotels. The big question is whether mutations of the virus could develop 
which render current vaccines ineffective, as opposed to how quickly vaccines can be modified 
to deal with them and enhanced testing programmes be implemented to contain their spread. 

 
EU. The slow role out of vaccines initially delayed economic recovery in early 2021 but the 
vaccination rate has picked up sharply since then.  After a contraction in GDP of -0.3% in Q1, 
Q2 came in with strong growth of 2%, which is likely to continue into Q3, though some 
countries more dependent on tourism may struggle. Recent sharp increases in gas and 
electricity prices have increased overall inflationary pressures but the ECB is likely to see these 
as being only transitory after an initial burst through to around 4%, so is unlikely to be raising 
rates for a considerable time.   
German general election. With the CDU/CSU and SDP both having won around 24-26% of the 
vote in the September general election, the composition of Germany’s next coalition 
government may not be agreed by the end of 2021. An SDP-led coalition would probably 
pursue a slightly less restrictive fiscal policy, but any change of direction from a CDU/CSU led 
coalition government is likely to be small. However, with Angela Merkel standing down as 
Chancellor as soon as a coalition is formed, there will be a hole in overall EU leadership which 
will be difficult to fill. 

 
China.  After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 2020, economic 
recovery was strong in the rest of the year; this enabled China to recover all the initial 
contraction. During 2020, policy makers both quashed the virus and implemented a programme 
of monetary and fiscal support that was particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth. 
At the same time, China’s economy benefited from the shift towards online spending by 
consumers in developed markets. These factors helped to explain its comparative 
outperformance compared to western economies during 2020 and earlier in 2021. However, 
the pace of economic growth has now fallen back after this initial surge of recovery from the 
pandemic and China is now struggling to contain the spread of the Delta variant through sharp 
local lockdowns - which will also depress economic growth. There are also questions as to how 
effective Chinese vaccines are proving. In addition, recent regulatory actions motivated by a 
political agenda to channel activities into officially approved directions, are also likely to reduce 
the dynamism and long-term growth of the Chinese economy. 

 
World growth.  World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until starting 
to lose momentum more recently. Inflation has been rising due to increases in gas and 
electricity prices, shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should subside during 
2022. It is likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world 
globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply 
products, and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from those in prior 
decades. 

 

Page 24



  APPENDIX B   
 
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 
 
The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following forecast as at 
07/10/20.  
 
The PWLB rates quoted are the concessionary certainty rates. 

 

  
Dec- 
21 

Mar-
22 

Jun- 
22 

Sep- 
22 

Dec- 
22 

Mar-
23 

Jun- 
23 

Sep- 
23 

Dec -
23 

Mar-
24 

Bank Rate 0.10% 0.10% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 

3 Month 
Average 
Earnings 

0.10% 0.10% 0.20% 0.20% 0.30% 0.40% 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 0.70% 

6 Month 
Average 
Earnings 

0.20% 0.20% 0.30% 030% 0.40% 0.50% 0.60% 0.60% 0.70% 0.80% 

12 Month 
Average 
Earnings 

0.30% 0.40% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 0.70% 0.80% 0.90% 1.00% 

5yr 
PWLB* 

rate 
1.40% 1.40% 1.50% 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.70% 1.70% 

10yr 
PWLB* 

rate 
1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.10% 2.10% 2.10% 

25yr 
PWLB* 

rate 
2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 

50yr 
PWLB* 

rate 
2.00% 2.00% 2.10% 2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30% 2.40% 

 
* PWLB – Public Works Loan Board 
 
The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and to economies around 
the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 
0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings. 
 
As shown in the forecast table above, one increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% has now 
been included in quarter 2 of 2022/23, a second increase to 0.50% in quarter 2 of 23/24 and a third 
one to 0.75% in quarter 4 of 23/24.  
 
Significant risks to the forecasts 

 COVID vaccines do not work to combat new mutations and/or new vaccines take longer 

than anticipated to be developed for successful implementation. 

 The pandemic causes major long-term scarring of the economy. 

 The Government implements an austerity programme that supresses GDP growth. 

 The MPC tightens monetary policy too early – by raising Bank Rate or unwinding QE. 

 The MPC tightens monetary policy too late to ward off building inflationary pressures. 

Page 25



  APPENDIX B   
 

 Major stock markets e.g. in the US, become increasingly judged as being over-valued and 

susceptible to major price corrections. Central banks become increasingly exposed to the 

“moral hazard” risks of having to buy shares and corporate bonds to reduce the impact of 

major financial market sell-offs on the general economy. 

 Geo-political risks are widespread e.g. German general election in September 2021 

produces an unstable coalition or minority government and a void in high-profile leadership 

in the EU when Angela Merkel steps down as Chancellor of Germany; on-going global 

power influence struggles between Russia/China/US. 

 
The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside, including 
residual risks from Covid and its variants - both domestically and their potential effects 
worldwide. 

 
Forecasts for Bank Rate 
Bank Rate is not expected to go up fast after the initial rate rise as the supply potential of the 
economy has not generally taken a major hit during the pandemic, so should be able to cope well 
with meeting demand without causing inflation to remain elevated in the medium-term, or to inhibit 
inflation from falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the surge to around 4% towards the 
end of 2021. Three increases in Bank rate are forecast in the period to March 2024, ending at 
0.75%. However, these forecasts may well need changing within a relatively short time frame for 
the following reasons: - 
 

 There are increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as running out of steam 

during the summer and now into the autumn. This could lead into stagflation which would 

create a dilemma for the MPC as to which way to face. 

 Will some current key supply shortages e.g., petrol and diesel, spill over into causing 

economic activity in some sectors to take a significant hit? 

 Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and increases in other prices 

caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April, are already going to 

deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take any action on Bank Rate 

to cool inflation. Then we have the Government’s upcoming budget in October, which could 

also end up in reducing consumer spending power. 

 On the other hand, consumers are sitting on around £200bn of excess savings left over 

from the pandemic so when will they spend this sum, in part or in total? 

 There are 1.6 million people coming off furlough at the end of September; how many of 

those will not have jobs on 1st October and will, therefore, be available to fill labour 

shortages in many sectors of the economy? So, supply shortages which have been driving 

up both wages and costs, could reduce significantly within the next six months or so and 

alleviate the MPC’s current concerns. 

 There is a risk that there could be further nasty surprises on the Covid front, on top of the 

flu season this winter, which could depress economic activity. 

 
In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, it is likely that 
these forecasts will need to be revised again soon - in line with what the new news is. 
 
It also needs to be borne in mind that Bank Rate being cut to 0.10% was an emergency measure 
to deal with the Covid crisis hitting the UK in March 2020. At any time, the MPC could decide to 
simply take away that final emergency cut from 0.25% to 0.10% on the grounds of it no longer 
being warranted and as a step forward in the return to normalisation. In addition, any Bank Rate 
under 1% is both highly unusual and highly supportive of economic growth.  
 

Page 26



  APPENDIX B   
 
Forecasts for PWLB rates and gilt and treasury yields 
As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is likely to be a steady 
rise over the forecast period, with some degree of uplift due to rising treasury yields in the US.    
There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in respect of gilt yields and 
PWLB rates due to the following factors: - 

 How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in US treasury yields? 

 Will the Fed take action to counter increasing treasury yields if they rise beyond a yet 
unspecified level? 

 Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond a yet unspecified 
level? 

 How strong will inflationary pressures turn out to be in both the US and the UK and so 
impact treasury and gilt yields? 

 How will central banks implement their new average or sustainable level inflation monetary 
policies? 

 How well will central banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases of their national bonds 
i.e., without causing a panic reaction in financial markets as happened in the “taper 
tantrums” in the US in 2013? 

 Will exceptional volatility be focused on the short or long-end of the yield curve, or both? 
 
The forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone or 
EU within our forecasting period, despite the major challenges that are looming up, and that there 
are no major ructions in international relations, especially between the US and China / North Korea 
and Iran, which have a major impact on international trade and world GDP growth.  
 
There are also possible DOWNSIDE RISKS from the huge sums of cash that the UK populace 
have saved during the pandemic; when savings accounts earn little interest, it is likely that some of 
this cash mountain could end up being invested in bonds and so push up demand for bonds and 
support their prices i.e., this would help to keep their yields down. How this will interplay with the 
Bank of England eventually getting round to not reinvesting maturing gilts and then later selling 
gilts, will be interesting to keep an eye on. 
 
The balance of risks to medium to long term PWLB rates: - 

 There is a balance of upside risks to forecasts for medium to long term PWLB rates. 
 
A new era – a fundamental shift in central bank monetary policy 
One of the key results of the pandemic has been a fundamental rethinking and shift in monetary 
policy by major central banks like the Fed, the Bank of England and the ECB, to tolerate a higher 
level of inflation than in the previous two decades when inflation was the prime target to bear down 
on so as to stop it going above a target rate. There is now also a greater emphasis on other targets 
for monetary policy than just inflation, especially on ‘achieving broad and inclusive “maximum” 
employment in its entirety’ in the US before consideration would be given to increasing rates.  
 

 The Fed in America has gone furthest in adopting a monetary policy based on a clear goal 
of allowing the inflation target to be symmetrical, (rather than a ceiling to keep under), so 
that inflation averages out the dips down and surges above the target rate, over an 
unspecified period of time.  

 The Bank of England has also amended its target for monetary policy so that inflation 
should be ‘sustainably over 2%’ and the ECB now has a similar policy.  

 For local authorities, this means that investment interest rates and very short term 
PWLB rates will not be rising as quickly or as high as in previous decades when the 
economy recovers from a downturn and the recovery eventually runs out of spare 
capacity to fuel continuing expansion.   

 Labour market liberalisation since the 1970s has helped to break the wage-price spirals 
that fuelled high levels of inflation and has now set inflation on a lower path which makes 
this shift in monetary policy practicable. In addition, recent changes in flexible employment 

Page 27



  APPENDIX B   
 

practices, the rise of the gig economy and technological changes, will all help to lower 
inflationary pressures.   

 Governments will also be concerned to see interest rates stay lower as every rise in central 
rates will add to the cost of vastly expanded levels of national debt; (in the UK this is £21bn 
for each 1% rise in rates). On the other hand, higher levels of inflation will help to erode the 
real value of total public debt. 

Page 28



Internal Audit
Progress Report

For all your assurance needs

Boston Borough Council

November 2021

Page 29

Agenda Item 3



This report has been prepared solely for the use of Members and Management of Boston Borough Council. Details may be made 

available to specified external organisations, including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not be used or referred to in 

whole or in part without prior consent.  No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is 

not intended for any other purpose.

The matters raised in this report are only those that came to our attention during the course of our work – there may be 

weaknesses in governance, risk management and the system of internal control that we are not aware of because they did not form 

part of our work programme, were excluded from the scope of individual audit engagements or were not bought to our attention.

The opinion is based solely the work undertaken as part of the agreed internal audit plan.

Contents

Lucy Pledge  - Head of Internal  Audit

Lucy.Pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Matthew Waller- Audit Manager

Matthew.Waller@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 2Key Messages

Introduction

Summary

Assurances

Page 2Internal Audit work completed

Overview of Assurances

Audit Reports at Draft

Work in Progress

Page 9Appendices

1 Assurance Definitions

2 Audit Recommendations

3 2021/22 Audit Plan to Date

4 Changes to the Audit Plan

1

Page 7

Page 6

Page 30

mailto:Lucy.Pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Matthew.Waller@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Introduction
The purpose of this report is to:

• Provide details of the audit work during the period August to 14th October 2021

• Advise on progress with the 2021/22 Plan

• Raise any other matters that may be relevant to the Audit Committee role

2

0
SUBSTANTIAL 

ASSURANCE

Key Messages
At the 14th October 37% of the planned days has been 

completed, against the target of 50%.

There are six audits in progress – see below for further 

details.

HB Subsidy work was prioritised in September which meant 

that the Brexit and Income audits were put on hold. They 

have since been restarted.  

Assurances 
In this period one assurance review has been completed;

• Boston Town Area Committee – High assurance

Note: The assurance expressed is at the time of issue of the report 

but before the full implementation of the agreed management action 

plan.  The definitions for each level are shown in Appendix 1. 

1
HIGH 

ASSURANCE

0
LIMITED 

ASSURANCE

0
LOW 

ASSURANCE

0
CONSULTANCY

Work in progress

• Brexit – fieldwork in progress

• Towns Fund – report being agreed

• Income – fieldwork in progress

• Housing Benefit Subsidy – report being agreed

• Carbon Reduction  - Planning

• Flood Management - Planning

Page 31



3

High Assurance

Boston 

Town Area 

Committee

This review sought to provide assurance over the effectiveness of BTAC’s 

governance arrangements and operations to ensure that they are fit for 

purpose. 

Overall we can provide a high level of assurance around the effectiveness 

of BTAC’s governance arrangements and operations, confirming that they 

are firmly established, documented, and fit for purpose.

Some key points are;

• Detailed Terms of Reference exist that confirm the role and duties of 

BTAC. Delegated powers are clearly outlined and allow the Committee 

to achieve its aims appropriately and transparently.

• Review of minutes and supporting reports confirm BTAC is working 

within its Terms of Reference and delegated powers, with issues of 

significance reported to Cabinet for formal approval, when required.

• Members adhere to the Council’s Member Code of Conduct, with all 

completing the required Disclosable Pecuniary and Local Choice 

Interest Forms. 

• Meeting minutes clearly reflect discussions held and reasons for 

decisions. Actual or potential conflicts of interest are disclosed at the 

beginning of meetings with evidence of members, where relevant, 

withdrawing from the decision-making process. 

• Responsibilities for financial management and reporting are clearly 

defined, with regular reconciliation and detailed monitoring undertaken.  

Approval of the BTAC annual budgets and precept is evident, with 

detailed work papers clearly outlining funding arrangements and 

budget/precept requirements over a 5-year period.  Budget estimates 

appear reasonable, and the level of reserves held acceptable. 

• Small Grant Funding applications are correctly completed, appropriately 

considered, and approved and fully meet the terms and conditions of 

the grant and the expectations of BTAC.  Decisions taken by the Small 

Grants Working Group, endorsed by BTAC, are clearly documented and 

fully transparent.

• Comprehensive annual reports outlining the work of BTAC are 

produced

No formal recommendations for improvement have been made.Page 32



Internal Audit Work

5

Audit Reports at Draft Stage
• Towns Fund

• Housing Benefit Subsidy

Work in Progress
• Brexit – Fieldwork

• Income - Fieldwork

• Carbon Reduction - Planning

• Flood Management - Planning

Other Significant work
We have completed Housing Benefit Subsidy work on behalf of the External Auditor 

and DWP. This is a large piece of work that provides assurance on the accuracy of 

benefit claims and that the Council has claimed the correct subsidy based on that 

accuracy. 

We will be providing an update in a future progress report once we have finalised 

testing and reported to management on the results. 

Audit Recommendations
A recommendation update is attached at Appendix 3.

As part of the previous recommendation update we were advised that two High priority 

recommendations had been implemented and, in accordance with our Follow Up 

protocol, these have been reviewed to ensure that they have been implemented as 

agreed;

• Governance, Risk Management & Counter Fraud audit 20/21 – a High priority 

recommendation containing four actions linked to the Annual Governance Statement 

was made and the evidence provided indicates that two actions have been fully 

implemented. For the two outstanding actions will agree new target dates. 

• Council Tax audit 20/21 - a High priority recommendation containing three actions 

linked to the receipt of Council Tax Support from the Housing Benefit system was 

made and the evidence provided shows that it has been implemented as agreed.

Page 33



Benchmarking
Internal Audit's performance is measured against a range of indicators.  

The statistics below show our performance on key indicators year to 

date. 

Performance on Key Indicators as at       

14th October 2021

6

Performance Indicator

Year-end 
Target

Standard 

Profile
Target*

Actual as at 

1st August 
2021

Percentage of revised plan 
completed.

100% 50% 37%

Percentage of recommendations 
agreed

100% 100%

N/A – 1 report 
issued with no 

recs

Percentage of agreed actions
implemented 

100% or 

escalated 100%

N/A – 1 report 
issued with no 

recs

Draft report issued within 10 days 

of fieldwork completion
100% 100% 100%

Final report issued within 5 days 

of management response
100% 100% 100%

Draft report issued within three 

months of fieldwork commencing
80% 80% 100%

*21/22 audit plan commenced in June 2021

Page 34



Appendix 1 Assurance Definitions

9

High
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a high level 

of confidence on service delivery arrangements, management of 

risks, and the operation of controls and / or performance.  

The risk of the activity not achieving its objectives or outcomes is low.  

Controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and are 

operating effectively.

Substantial
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a 

substantial level of confidence (assurance) on service delivery 

arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls and / 

or performance.

There are some improvements needed in the application of controls 

to manage risks. However, the controls have been evaluated as 

adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently so that the risk of the 

activity not achieving its objectives is medium to low.  

Limited Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a a limited 

level of confidence on service delivery arrangements, management 

of risks, and operation of controls and / or performance.

The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to be 

operating or are inadequate. Therefore, the controls evaluated are 

unlikely to give a reasonable level of confidence (assurance) that the 

risks are being managed effectively.  It is unlikely that the activity will 

achieve its objectives.

Low

Our critical review or assessment on the activity identified significant 

concerns on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, 

and operation of controls and / or performance.

There are either gaps in the control framework managing the key 

risks or the controls have been evaluated as not adequate, 

appropriate or are not being effectively operated. Therefore the risk 

of the activity not achieving its objectives is high.

Page 35



7

Appendix 2 Audit Recommendations

Audit Recommendation Status at 30th September 2021

Activity Issue 

Date

Assurance Total 

recs

Recs 

Imp

Priority of Overdue 

Recommendations

Recs 

not 

due

High Medium Low

Economic 

Development

Mar 19 Substantial 3 2 0 1 0

The outstanding recommendation is for Cabinet to receive the ED Action Plan as 

a supporting document to the Corporate Plan. 

The target date has been extended to Mar 22 (original date was Sept 19) - this 

action was initially delayed due to the delay in producing the new Corporate Plan 

and has been further extended due to a review of the Economic Growth service 

and the production of a growth plan across the new partnership.

IT Infrastructure 

Follow Up

Apr 19 Substantial 3 2 0 1 0

The outstanding recommendation is to finalise the Code of Connection. 

The target date is Dec 21 (original was April 19) and a further extension is 

awaited. 

This is with PSPS to deliver.

Complaints May 19 Substantial 10 6 0 4 0

The outstanding recommendations are to review some requirements of the policy 

to see if they are still relevant and to produce an annual complaints report.

The target dates have been extended to Dec 21 (original dates were March 20) 

due to a review of the complaints process across the Strategic Alliance in 21/22 

to develop a single approach.

Health & Safety Oct 19 Substantial 5 4 0 1 0 0

The outstanding recommendation is to provide H&S training for members. 

The target date has been further extended to December 21 (was originally March 

20).

This is with PSPS to deliver.

Medium Term 

Financial 

Strategy

Oct 19 High 2 1 0 0 0 1

The recommendation is due March 2022. 

Page 36



8

Activity Issue 

Date

Assurance Total 

recs

Recs 

Imp

Priority of Overdue 

Recommendations

Recs 

not 

due

High Medium Low

Values & 

Behaviours

Feb 20 Consultancy 2 0 0 2 0 0

The outstanding recommendations are regarding the Code of Conduct (policy 

update and officer / member training). The target dates have been further 

extended to March 2022 (originally Sept 2020). The LGA has published a new 

model Code, training is being delivered to Members in Sept prior to consideration 

of adoption of a new Code in early 2022.

Treasury 

Management 

Key Controls

Feb 20 Substantial 2 1 0 1 0 0

The outstanding recommendation is to update the Treasury Management 

Practices. 

The target date has been further extended to Jan 22 (original was March 20) to 

align with other, similar, actions. 

This is with PSPS to deliver.

Governance, 

Risk, Counter 

Fraud

Jul 20 Substantial 2 2 0 0 0 0

We have been advised that the outstanding (High priority) recommendation (High 

priority) to review the Publication Scheme has been implemented.

In accordance with our recommendation follow up protocol supporting evidence 

will be requested and reviewed to ensure it has been implemented as agreed. 

Our findings will be reported in the next Progress Report in January 22.

Strategic 

Alliance – TOR / 

MOU

Dec 20 Consultancy 7 4 0 0 0 3

Two overdue recommendations have been implemented.

Page 37



9

Activity Issue 

Date

Assurance Total 

recs

Recs 

Imp

Priority of Overdue 

Recommendations

Recs 

not 

due

High Medium Low

Council Tax Mar 21 Substantial 3 3

Follow up work on a completed High priority recommendation found that it had 

been implemented as agreed.

IT Security / 

Assurance Map 

update

Mar 21 Limited 13 4 2 7

Two recommendations have been further extended. A High priority one to restrict 

the use of USB devices is now Dec 21 (original date Jun 21) and a Medium 

priority one to configure email alerts from environmental monitoring equipment in 

the data centre is now Nov 21 (original date Jun 21).  These are with PSPS to 

deliver.

Payroll May 21 Substantial 1 1

We have been advised that the High priority recommendation to ensure payments 

are appropriately authorised has been implemented.

In accordance with our recommendation follow up protocol supporting evidence 

will be requested and reviewed to ensure it has been implemented as agreed. 

Our findings will be reported in the next Progress Report in January 22.

Governance, 

Risk, Counter 

Fraud

May 21 Substantial 3 1 2

Follow up work on a completed High priority recommendation found that two 

parts of it were still outstanding. The actions are still valid and new target dates 

are awaited.

Page 38



Appendix 3 2021/22 Audit Plan Progress

13

Audit Scope of Work Start 

Planned 

date

Start 

Actual 

date

End 

Actual 

date

Status/ Rating

Brexit Management of Brexit risks

(joint with ELDC)

Q1 Jun Fieldwork

Towns Fund & 

PE21

Programme & project 

management 

arrangements.

(joint with ELDC)

Q1 Jun Draft report

Value for Money 

(MTFS)

Support work for External 

Audit’s annual commentary 

in line with the new code of 

practice and the CIPFA 

Financial Code.

(joint with ELDC)

Q3 Postponed

Income Income collection controls 

in key areas.

Q2 Aug Fieldwork

Housing Benefit 

Subsidy

Detailed testing work on 

behalf of External Audit

Q2 July Draft report

Workforce Plan The Plan is effective and 

meets the changing needs 

of the Council and the 

demographics and skills of 

staff.

(joint with ELDC)

Q2 Planning

Flood 

Management

Adequate arrangements to 

prevent and respond to 

flooding are in place. 

(joint with ELDC)

Q2 Jul Agreeing 

TOR

Page 39



14

Audit Scope of Work Start 

Planned 

date

Start 

Actual 

date

End 

Actual 

date

Status/ 

Rating

Carbon Reduction Plans to tackle climate change 

are relevant, fit for purpose and 

achievable.

(joint with ELDC)

Q2 Aug WIP

Boston Town Area 

Committee (BTAC)

To provide assurance over the 

effectiveness of BTAC’s 

governance arrangements and 

operations to ensure that they 

are fit for purpose.

Q2 July Sept High 

assurance

Key Controls Testing on the Council’s financial 

control environment to inform the 

Annual IA Report.

(coverage may change)

Q3-4

ICT – IT Security 

Follow Up

Follow up of a previous audit. Q3

Combined 

Assurance

Updating the Council’s 

assurance map and producing 

the Combined Assurance report.

Q3 WIP 

ICT – ICT Projects Appropriate programme and 

project management 

arrangements are in place.

Q4

Contract 

Management

All contracts are recorded, 

allocated and effectively 

managed.

(joint with ELDC)

Q4

Page 40



12

Appendix 4 Record of changes to the Internal Audit

Plan 2021/22

Deferred Audits

Audit Rationale Change Approval 

Strategic

Alliance

It has recently been approved 

for South Holland District 

Council to join the Alliance and 

be known as the South & East 

Lincolnshire Council 

Partnership. 

This audit has been agreed for 

deferral to allow time for these 

changes to be embedded and 

will be completed in 22/23. 

Deferral Reported in the last 

progress report to 

September 

Committee

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 
 

MEETING AGENDA ITEMS 

24 MAY  
2021 

 Audit Completion Report Follow-Up Letter – Mark Surridge / Jon Machej, Mazars 

 Annual Audit Letter – Mark Surridge / Jon Machej, Mazars 

 Internal Audit – Progress Report 2021/22 – John Scott / Paul Berry, Internal Audit 

 Quarter 3 Risk Report – Suzanne Rolfe, IT & Transformation Manager 

 Internal Audit Annual Report 2020/21 – John Scott / Paul Berry, Internal Audit 

 Annual Fraud Performance Report 2020/21 – Kelly Clerk, Customer Contact Operations & Delivery Manager 

 Transfer of Internal Audit Service – Adrian Sibley, Section 151 Officer  

 Monitoring Officer Update – Michelle Sacks, Monitoring Officer 

20 SEPT  
2021 
 

 The Council’s Inspection in Relation to the Use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Christian 
Allen, Assistant Director – Regulation 

 Quarter 1 2021/22 Risk Report  
Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation Manager 

 Unaudited Statement of Accounts 2020/21 
Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) 

 Treasury Management and Capital Strategy Update – Quarter 1 2021/22 
Steven Houchin, Chief Finance Officer 

 Internal Audit Charter 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

 Internal Audit – Progress Report 2021/22 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

8 NOV  
2021 

 Verbal Update on Audit of Statement of Accounts 2020/21 
Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate)  

 Treasury Management - 2021/22 Mid-Year Update 
Jacqueline Mundy, Interim Treasury and Investment Manager 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 
  

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 4



 

MEETING AGENDA ITEMS 

24 JAN  
2022 

 Quarter 2 Risk Report 2021/22 
Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation Manager 

 Statement of Accounts (including Annual Governance Statement) 
Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) 

 Draft Budget Setting Report and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2026/27 
Peter Davy, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client) 

 Treasury Management Update 2021/22 - Quarter 3  
Jacqueline Mundy, Interim Treasury and Investment Manager 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22  
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

 Draft Internal Audit Plan 2022/23  
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

 Model Code of Conduct  
Mark Stinson, Monitoring Officer 

28 MAR  
2022 

 External Audit Progress Report 
Mark Surridge / Jon Machej, Mazars 

 Quarter 3 Risk Report 2021/22 
Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation Manager 

 Accounting Policies  
Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) 

 Combined Assurance – Status Report  
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

 Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

 Monitoring Officer Update 
Mark Stinson, Monitoring Officer 

 
 

 

 

 
 

P
age 44


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	2 TREASURY MANAGEMENT - 2021/22 MID-YEAR UPDATE
	Appendix A - Mid-Year Review Report 2021-22
	Appendix B - Economic update from Link Asset Services

	3 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22
	4 WORK PROGRAMME

